IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TAI PHAM,)	
Appellant,)	
vs.)	CASE NUMBER SC08-2355
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
Appellee.)	
)	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0267082 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 8, 2005, the grand jury in and for Seminole County, Florida returned an indictment charging Appellant with one count of first degree premeditated murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2005), one count of attempted first degree premeditated murder in violation of Sections 777.04(1)(4)(b), 782.04(1)(a)1, 775.087(1), Florida Statutes (2005), one count of armed kidnapping in violation of Sections 787.01(1)(a)(2) and 775.087(1), Florida Statutes (2005) and one count of armed burglary of a dwelling in violation of Sections 810.02(1)(b) and (2)(b) and 810.07, Florida Statutes (2005). (R21-23) On November 22, 2005, the state filed its notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (R26) Appellant filed numerous motions attacking the constitutionality of various aspects of Florida's capital punishment statutes including a

motion to declare it unconstitutional pursuant to *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 US 584 (2002). (R118-122) On January 15, 2008, a hearing on the death penalty motions was conducted before the Honorable Marlene Alva, Circuit Court Judge. (Vol. XVII, 913-983) Relying on prior decisions from the Florida Supreme Court, Judge Alva denied the motions. (R259-263)

On August 29, 2007, Judge Alva entered an order adjudging Appellant incompetent to proceed and committing him to the Department of Children and Families. (R234-237; Vol. XVI, 902) On December 6, 2007, Judge Alva entered an order adjudging Appellant to be competent to proceed. (R246-247)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on March 3-7, 2008 with the Honorable Marlene Alva, Circuit Court Judge presiding. (Vols. IV-XI) During closing arguments,

Appellant objected to the State's characterization of Appellant's testimony as "nonsense."

(Vol. XI, 14-15) Further, Appellant moved for a mistrial when the State improperly shifted the burden of proof to the defense. (Vol. XI, 1464-1465) Although the trial court sustained the objection to the latter comment, the motion for mistrial was denied. (Vol. XI, 1464) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding Appellant guilty as charged on all counts. (Vol. XI, 1528-1529; R453-457)

On May 20-22, 2008, the penalty phase was conducted before Judge Alva. (Vols. XII-XIV) During the course of the penalty phase, one of the alternate jurors gave a letter

to the bailiff indicating that several jurors either had or were currently rejecting the cultural mitigators which were being presented. The letter implied that the jurors were clearly discussing the case in direct contravention to the Court's instructions. (Vol. XIII, 219-259) Defense counsel moved for a mistrial. (R221) The Court then conducted inquiries of three of the jurors who indicated that there were comments made concerning people who come to America having to live by American standards and American laws and that while it is terrible to hear these sad stories there are a lot of people who have tough luck. (Vol. XIII, 223, 241, 246) The Court reserved ruling but gave a cautionary instruction to the jurors. (Vol. XIII, 258-259) The penalty phase continued and following the presentation of the evidence, the Court revisited the issue of juror misconduct occasioned by the alternate juror's letter. (Vol. XIV, 493-505) The Court denied the motion for mistrial but found that there was lack of compliance with the Court's instructions. (Vol. XIV, 504-505) Defense counsel then objected to the State eliciting evidence of lack of remorse on the part of the Appellant but the Court overruled the objection on the grounds that it was too late and the defense itself brought up remorse. (Vol. XIV, 506-508) Following deliberations, the jury returned an advisory verdict recommending the death penalty by a vote of 10 to 2. (Vol. XIV, 577; R 501) On May 30, 2008, Appellant filed a motion for a new sentencing hearing and for interviews of the jurors. (R507) At a hearing on the motion conducted June 18, 2008, Judge Alva denied

the motion finding no misconduct and noting that counsel had been given the opportunity to question the other jurors and declined. (Vol. XVII, 1077-1099) On August 18, 2008, Judge Alva conducted a *Spencer*¹ hearing where counsel for the State and defense presented additional evidence. (Vol. XVIII, 1100-1272)

On November 14, 2008, Appellant again appeared before Judge Alva for sentencing. (Vol. XVIII, 1273-1296) After reciting her findings of fact, Judge Alva adjudicated Appellant guilty and sentenced him to death for the first degree murder conviction and concurrent life terms for the remaining counts with all counts running concurrently. (Vol. XVIII, 1293-1294; R 558-568, 569-573)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on December 10, 2008. (R576-577)

Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R591-592)

¹ Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 288 (Fla. 1993)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Tai Pham (Appellant) and Phi Pham (Amy) were married but had been separated for two years. (Vol. VIII, 871; Vol. X, 1230) Amy had one daughter, Lana and Amy and Appellant had two daughters, Zena and Kimmie. (Vol. VIII, 843, 1230) Amy and Appellant are both from Viet Nam and Appellant was trying to raise the children in a traditional Vietnamese manner. (Vol. VIII, 855, 872) Appellant was very strict with the children and if they did wrong, he would punish them including spanking. (Vol. VIII, 872) When Amy and Appellant separated, the children lived with Amy. (Vol. VIII, 843, 846) Amy was not as strict with the children as Appellant. (Vol. VIII, 873) Appellant did not approve of the way the children dressed and did not approve when the girls would spend the night at other people's houses. (Vol. VIII, 873) Appellant continued to be concerned about the children even after he and his wife separated. (Vol. VIII, 873)

On October 22, 2005, a Saturday, Appellant worked at Crystal Electronics from 9:00 A.M. until approximately 8:30 P.M. (Vol. X, 1227-1228) During the day Appellant called and spoke with his daughter Zena. Zena told her father that Amy had purchased condoms for both Zena and Lana. (Vol. X, 1229, 1237) Based upon that conversation, Appellant made plans to speak with his wife after work. (Vol. X, 1229) On his way home from work, Appellant called his wife's apartment to speak to Zena and Kimmie but instead talked only to Lana. (Vol. X, 1230) Lana told Appellant that she

was home alone and that her younger sisters were spending the night at a friend's house and her mother had gone out. (Vol. VIII 874, 1230) Prior to her mother arriving at home, Lana had had a boy over which she knows that Appellant would not have permitted. (Vol. VIII, 879) After speaking with Lana, Appellant drove home but realized what Lana had told him and instead drove to his wife's apartment. (Vol. X, 1230) Appellant testified that he went to his wife's apartment to give her money for the children, to talk to his wife about the condoms that she had purchased for Zena and Lana, to make sure that Zena and Kimmie came home, and to give his wife mail that had come for her. (Vol. X, 1287) Appellant testified that he arrived at his wife's apartment around 10:00 P.M., knocked on the door and Lana answered and let him in. (Vol. X, 1232-1233) Lana, however, testified that she did not let Appellant in the apartment and doesn't know how he got in. (Vol. VIII, 852) Lana first realized Appellant was present when she felt her hair being pulled down towards the floor and looked over and saw Appellant with two knives in his hand. (Vol. VIII, 852) Lana testified that Appellant dragged her to her room, closed the door, tied her up using shoe laces and cut up pillow cases and then waited until Amy returned. (Vol. VIII, 853) Once Appellant got Lana to her room, Lana testified that Appellant put the knives under the cushion of the bed and did not threaten her with the knives. (Vol. VIII, 886) Appellant testified that he was watching television in the living room while Lana was on the computer and he noticed that she was on My

Space and had posted a picture of herself showing her rear end. (Vol. X, 1233-1234) According to Appellant Lana got upset when he told her to take the picture off the internet. (Vol. X, 1234) At some point two friends knocked on the door but Appellant sent them away which also made Lana angry. (Vol. X, 1234) Lana felt that Appellant had ruined her evening and following a discussion, Appellant told Lana to get off the internet and go to her room which she did. (Vol. X, 1234-1235) About a half an hour later, Appellant went into Lana's room where she was watching television. (Vol. X, 1235) Appellant testified that he wanted Lana to come down to the car to help him get some things but Lana refused and because Appellant felt that Lana was up to something he asked her if he should tie her up and Lana said yes so he tied her hands very loosely with some shoe strings and ripped a pillow case and tied her legs loosely. (Vol. X, 1239) Lana denied that Appellant ever said he needed to go down to the car to get things for her mother. (Vol. VIII, 892) While waiting for her mother to come home, Lana testified that Appellant prayed and told Lana to take care of her little sisters when he and her mother were gone. (Vol. VIII, 855) Appellant further told Lana to behave well and set a good example for her sisters. (Vol. VIII, 856)

Christopher Higgins, a construction worker, had been dating Amy for two months.

(Vol. VIII, 922) On the evening of October 22, 2005, Higgins and Amy met some of her co-workers for dinner at a former co-worker's house. (Vol. VIII, 924) Amy drove her

van and Higgins followed her on his motorcycle. (Vol. VIII, 925) They left the party about 11:00 P.M. and stopped at Higgins's house so he could change clothing and then they continued to Amy's apartment. (Vol. VIII, 925-926) When they got to the apartment complex, Amy parked and went up to the apartment while Higgins was parking his motorcycle in the breeze way and locking it. (Vol. VIII, 927) As Higgins removed his helmet, he heard someone screaming and thought it was a woman arguing but he could not tell where it was coming from. (Vol. VIII, 928) Higgins finished securing his motorcycle and started upstairs and as he approached Amy's apartment he could tell the screaming was coming from there. (Vol. VIII, 928)

Lana was still in her room when she heard the door close and her mother calling her name as she approached her room. (Vol. VIII, 857) When Amy got to Lana's room, she opened the door and Appellant who was hiding behind a closet jumped out as Lana screamed "watch out." (Vol. VIII, 857) Appellant had a knife and Lana saw him stab her mother once in the throat which occurred in Lana's bedroom. (Vol. VIII, 858)

Appellant and Amy then moved to another area while Lana tried to find a telephone to call 911. (Vol. VIII, 860) Although Lana's hands and feet were still tied it was not tight so she was able to get loose and reach the phone and called the police. (Vol. VIII, 860)

When Higgins stepped into the apartment, he saw Lana over the top of her mother down the hallway. (Vol. VIII, 930) Amy was lying on the floor and Lana was crying

hysterically. (Vol. VIII, 930) Lana had something pink around her wrists but Higgins saw nothing in Lana's hands. (Vol. VIII, 930) Higgins testified that he turned to his left to put his motorcycle helmet down and saw something move out of the corner of his eye so he turned around and saw Appellant coming right towards him in full swing so he ducked to try to move out of the way. (Vol. VIII, 931-932) Appellant struck Higgins in the left side of his face and Higgins realized that he had just been stabbed with a knife. (Vol. VIII, 932) Higgins still had his helmet in his hands so he started swinging at Appellant with it and made a connection. (Vol. VIII, 932) Higgins saw that Appellant had a butcher knife in his hand so Higgins got behind Appellant to try to control him and tried pulling the knife up to Appellant's throat. (Vol. VIII, 933) The two struggled and Appellant bit Higgins's finger. (Vol. VIII, 933) The struggle started in the dining room then moved to the living room and ultimately ended up in the kitchen. (Vol. VIII, 937-938) During the struggle, Higgins grabbed the blade of the knife with his left hand causing it to be cut and was also cut on the left forearm. (Vol. VIII, 936)

According to Appellant, as he was starting to go down to his car to get the money for Amy, Amy and Higgins entered the apartment. (Vol. X, 1241) Appellant asked his wife where Zena and Kimmie were and also asked "who the hell Higgins was." (Vol. X, 1242) Appellant pointed at Higgins and told him to "get the fuck out." (Vol. X, 1242) Appellant had no knife in his hand at the time. (Vol. X, 1243) According to Appellant,

Higgins did not leave but instead came towards him with a helmet in one hand and the knife which he picked up from the counter in the other. (Vol. X, 1244) Appellant got angry, jumped up, grabbed both of Higgins's arms and tried to flip him over. (Vol. X, 1245) Appellant let go of Higgins and ran to the kitchen where he picked a meat cleaver which was the only knife he ever held. (Vol. X, 1245-1246) Higgins followed Appellant into the kitchen and tried to stab at him so Appellant wacked him with his cleaver once and then let go and grabbed at Higgins's knife with both hands cutting his fingers. (Vol. X, 1250) Appellant testified that he never stabbed his wife. (Vol. X, 1252)

Higgins testified that while he and Appellant were struggling, Lana was with her mother but then went to get a phone to call 911. (Vol. VIII, 939) At some point Lana got a pot from the pantry and hit Appellant in the knee very hard. (Vol. VIII, 865, 939) All the while, Higgins kept yelling hoping that the 911 operator would hear and have the police respond quicker. (Vol. VIII, 940, 865) Although Lana testified that she saw Appellant actually stab her mother, she admitted that in a prior deposition she said she had never seen Appellant actually stab her mother. (Vol. VIII, 896) Lana also testified that when Appellant first made contact with Amy, Higgins was not in the apartment but in deposition she said that Chris was in the living room because she saw his helmet there. (Vol. VIII, 896) While Appellant and Higgins were fighting, Appellant kept telling Lana

to go and help her mother. (Vol. VIII, 901) In a deposition, Lana said that Appellant dropped the knife in his hand when the police arrived although at trial she testified that she actually took the knife from Appellant's hand while he was fighting with Chris. (Vol. VIII, 904) According to Higgins, Appellant still had the butcher knife in his left hand when the police arrived. (Vol. VIII, 944)

Higgins had never met Appellant until that night but he had received a telephone call from him approximately two weeks prior when Appellant told Higgins to stay away from his children. (Vol. VIII, 953) Higgins asked who it was and Appellant gave his name and said he would kill Higgins and then hung up. (Vol. VIII, 953) Higgins admitted that he did not take the phone threat from Appellant seriously. (Vol. VIII, 969) Eventually Higgins went to the hospital and was treated for cuts on his wrists, arms and head. (Vol. VIII, 944-945, 949, 950, 951) Lana testified that when the police arrived, they pointed a gun at her because she had one Appellant's knives in her hand and was standing over her mother. (Vol. VIII, 867) She told the police that her mother was dead and that Appellant had killed her. (Vol. VIII, 871)

Officer Allen Greene of the Altamonte Springs Police Department responded to the 911 call at the River Oaks Apartments in Altamonte Springs, Seminole County, Florida. (Vol. IX, 1008-1009) Upon arrival, Greene could hear a disturbance on the second floor and could hear a high-pitched voice but could not understand what was being said. (Vol.

IX, 1010) As Greene started going upstairs another unit of officers responded. (Vol. IX, 1011) As Greene approached apartment 288 he saw a female in the breezeway at the top of the stairs on the telephone. (Vol. IX, 1012) Arriving at apartment 288, the door was open and Greene could see a young female in the middle of the living room just inside the doorway. (Vol. IX, 1013) The woman's hands appeared to be tied with a strip and she was facing the kitchen and screaming. (Vol. IX, 1013) The woman was hysterical and holding the top end of a knife. (Vol. IX, 1013) The young girl screamed he killed my mother. (Vol. IX, 1014) Greene drew his firearm and pointed it at the woman and ordered her to drop the knife and after several commands she did. (Vol. IX, 1014) This woman was eventually identified as Lana Turner Pham. (Vol. IX, 1014) Once Lana dropped the knife, Greene entered the apartment and observed a body lying in the hallway motionless. (Vol. IX, 1015-1016) Greene could also hear commotion in the kitchen and saw two figures engaged in a struggle. (Vol. IX, 1016-1017) Greene ignored Lana, went toward the two individuals in the kitchen and observed that they were two males who were crunched over each other on top of the counter and were covered in blood. (Vol. IX, 1018) These individuals were identified as Christopher Higgins and Appellant. (Vol. IX, 1018) Lana continued to scream "he killed my mother," and pointed at Appellant said "my step-father." (Vol. IX, 1020) Once the apartment was secured, an officer retrieved a digital camera from the police car and took photos of the scene. (Vol. IX,

1021) Upon Greene's arrival, Amy Pham was already dead. (Vol. IX, 1028) Both Higgins and Appellant were taken to the hospital. (Vol. IX, 1033) Higgins is approximately six feet tall while Appellant is five feet four inches tall. (Vol. IX, 1030) Deanna Teminsky, a crime scene analyst with the Altamonte Springs Police Department responded to the scene of a possible homicide. (Vol. IX, 1047-1049) Teminsky observed several blood-stained areas including the living room, the dining room, the kitchen, and the hall. (Vol. IX, 1049) There was a body of a dead female lying in the hallway. (Vol. IX, 1049) No blood stains were found in either bathroom nor in the master bedroom. (Vol. IX, 1117) There was also no blood found in any of the bedrooms. (Vol. IX, 1139) From the middle bedroom which was Lana's bedroom, Teminsky recovered a black used condom and a life style condom wrapper. (Vol. IX, 1144)

An autopsy was conducted by Doctor Thomas Parsons on October 25, 2005. (Vol. IX, 1165-1167) There were 10 discrete wounds found on the body of the victim. Wound #1 was under the chin to the right side and was not life threatening and was just a shallow incision. (Vol. IX, 1170) Wound #2 was on the right at the base of the neck and was the length of 5.2 centimeters from front to back. (Vol. IX, 1170) The wound had a contusion which was caused by the hilt of the knife hitting the skin. (Vol. IX, 1174) The entire blade went through the body and exited the back. (Vol. IX, 1176) The exit wound

on the back was the wound #10. (Vol. IX, 1181) Wound #3 was a little bit above the left breast and was very similar to wound #2 in length. (Vol. IX, 1177) This wound went through the left chest cavity crossed into the right side and pierced the right upper lobe of the lung. (Vol. IX, 1178) Wound #4 was below the left arm pit and was 6 centimeters in length. (Vol. IX, 1178) This wound hit the first rib on the left and then the sixth rib on the left and went through the lower lobe of the left lung and entered the left ventricle of the heart and then into the right atrium of the heart. (Vol. IX, 1178) Wound #5 was an excised wound on the arm under the left armpit. (Vol. IX, 1179) Wound #6 was a stab wound to the abdomen to the left above the belly button. (Vol. IX, 1179) The knife entered the abdominal cavity and perforated the stomach, duodenum, and adrenal glands causing abdominal hemorrhaging. (Vol. IX, 1179) Wound #7 was a defensive wound on the back of the right hand. (Vol. IX, 1180) Wound #8 was located on the left arm opposite the elbow and was a 7.6 centimeter gaping wound severing the muscle tendon. (Vol. IX, 1180) The last wound was a shallow incised wound just below wound #8. (Vol. IX, 1181) The cause of death of the victim was multiple sharp force injuries. (Vol. IX, 1188)

PENALTY PHASE FACTS

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