### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-2355

TAI A. PHAM

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

> BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Fla. Bar No. 998818 SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX-(386)226-0457

#

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

no legal support in the first place. There is no basis for requiring a new penalty phase proceeding.

## III. THE PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY AGGRAVATOR CLAIM

pages 49-51 of his brief, On Pham argues that the conviction for battery on a law enforcement officer should not have been used to support the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance. Whether an aggravating circumstance exists is a reviewed under factual finding the competent substantial evidence standard. When reviewing aggravating factors on appeal, this Court, in Alston v. State, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998), reiterated the standard of review, noting that it "is not this Court's function to reweigh the evidence to determine whether proved each aggravating circumstance the State beyond а reasonable doubt -- that is the trial court's job. Rather, our task on appeal is to review the record to determine whether the trial court applied the right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding," quoting Willacy v. State, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 970 (1997). Pham is not entitled to relief for the reasons set out below.

The primary support for the prior violent felony aggravator was the contemporaneous conviction for the attempted murder of Christopher Higgins, a fact that is not mentioned at all in Pham's brief. (V3, R559). In fact, while the state did introduce

evidence about the battery on a law enforcement officer conviction at the Spencer hearing, that conviction was not discussed at all in the State's sentencing memorandum. (V3, R538). Florida law is well-settled that contemporaneous convictions, like the conviction for the attempted murder of Christopher Higgins, establish the prior violent felony aggravator. See, LeCroy v. State, 533 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 1988); King v. State, 390 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 1980). Because that is the law (and because Pham has not challenged this aspect of Florida law), there is no basis for further consideration of this issue. The prior violent felony aggravator is established by virtue of the attempted murder conviction, regardless of whether the battery on a law enforcement officer conviction is considered or not. Pham has not challenged the Higgins conviction, and has waived any challenge to its application in aggravation. This issue, when all of the facts are considered, has no factual basis.

To the extent that discussion of the second conviction supporting the prior violent felony aggravator is even necessary, Florida law is clear that the details of the prior conviction are admissible. *Dufour v. State*, 495 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1986). And, under the facts of Pham's battery, there is no colorable claim that that offense was anything other than a crime of violence. *See, Simmons v. State*, 934 So. 2d 1100, 1121

(Fla. 2006). To the extent that Pham raises a claim based on *Ring v. Arizona*, no such objection was raised at the time of the *Spencer* hearing, and any claim is waived now. (V18, R8-14). It is true that Pham raised a *Ring*-based claim (of sorts) in his sentencing memorandum (V3, R526), but that claim does not appear to be the same claim contained in his brief (which completely ignores the contemporaneous conviction). The *Ring* claim contained in Pham's brief is not preserved for review.

Likewise, Pham's claim that it was improper for the sentencing court to consider an aggravator that was not submitted to the jury was not preserved by objection at trial. Because this claim was not preserved, this Court should not consider it. Even putting aside the failure to preserve this claim, it is not a basis for relief because it is foreclosed by long-settled law. Hoffman v. State, 474 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1985); Engle v. State, 438 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 1983).

Finally, to the extent that further discussion is even necessary, even assuming some legal basis for Pham's argument, there is no basis for relief because the prior violent felony aggravator is supported by the attempted murder conviction that Pham has left out of his brief. There is no basis for relief of any sort.

## IV. THE RING V. ARIZONA CLAIM

On pages 52-74 of his brief, Pham sets out a lengthy argument which purports to challenge Florida's capital sentencing statute based on *Ring v. Arizona*. While Pham says that this claim was repeatedly raised pre-trial, citing to multiple pages of the record, the true facts are that the *Ring* claim raised in the trial court consisted of two motions which totaled nine (9) pages. (V1, R118-122, 125-128).<sup>15</sup> The trial court properly denied those motions under prevailing law. (V15, R937).

To the extent that Pham has preserved a basic Ring v. Arizona claim, this Court has repeatedly rejected such claims when, as here, there is a contemporaneous felony conviction:<sup>16</sup>

We deny Hojan's claims asserting errors under Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002), and Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000).<sup>17</sup> Hojan's case also involved convictions for multiple contemporaneous crimes. This Court has held that such facts-found unanimously by a jury-satisfy the requirements of Ring. See, e.g., Rodgers v. State, 948

<sup>16</sup> Pham was convicted of the attempted murder of Christopher Higgins as well as for armed burglary.

<sup>17</sup> No claim based on *Apprendi* is preserved -- that case was not cited in Pham's motion, and no such argument was advanced below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> None of the other record citations found on page 59 of Pham's brief have anything at all to do with *Ring*. The motions filed by Pham appear to be form motions -- the newest case cited in the motion beginning on R118 is from 2004; the motion found at R125 cites no cases at all.

So. 2d 655, 673 (Fla .2006); *Smith v. State*, 866 So. 2d 51, 68 (Fla. 2004); *Jones v. State*, 855 So. 2d 611, 619 (Fla. 2003). Accordingly, we deny Hojan's *Ring* claims.

Further, Hojan's Apprendi claims have also been previously rejected by this Court. First, this Court has rejected claims that the State is required to provide notice of the aggravating factors it intends to prove in the penalty phase. See, e.g., Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003); Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 378 (Fla. 2003). Second, this Court has also rejected the claim that the jury must report its findings. See, e.g., Walker v. State, 957 So. 2d 569 (Fla. 2007); Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 560, 981, 986 (Fla. 2003). Third, this Court has rejected the claim that а nonunanimous jury sentencing recommendation is unconstitutional. See, e.g., Parker v. State, 904 So. 2d 370, 383 (Fla. 2005); Hodges v. State, 885 So. 2d 338, 359 n. 9 (Fla. 2004). Fourth, this Court has rejected burden-shifting claims that argue Florida's capital sentencing statute or jury instructions unconstitutionally place the burden on the defendant to prove that sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to outweigh the aggravators. See, e.q., Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 14 (Fla. 2003); Sweet v. Moore, 822 So. 2d 1269, 1274 (Fla. 2002). Finally, this Court has also rejected claims that telling a jury that it only recommends a sentence of life or death, while the final decision on the sentence is up to the judge unconstitutionally dilutes the jury's responsibility. See, e.g., Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 291 (Fla. 1993). Accordingly, we deny Hojan's Apprendi claims as well.

Hojan v. State, 3 So. 3d 1204, 1209 at n. 2 (Fla. 2009). Accord, Aguirre-Jarquin v. State, 9 So. 3d 593, 601 at n. 8 (Fla. 2009); Hayward v. State, 2009 WL 2612524, 22 (Fla. 2009); Eaglin v. State, 2009 WL 1544264, 11 (Fla. 2009); Frances v. State, 970 So. 2d 806, 822-23 (Fla. 2007) (rejecting Ring argument in light of prior violent felony aggravator based on

contemporaneous convictions for murder and robbery). The *Ring* claim, to the limited extent that it is preserved, is meritless under prevailing law.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, it is axiomatic that this Court's pronouncements about the proper construction of Florida law are binding. In an effort to create a claim where none exists, Pham has ignored the following language from *Mills*:

The plain language of section 775.082(1) is clear that the maximum penalty available for a person convicted of a capital felony is death. When section 775.082(1) is read in pari materia with section 921.141, Florida Statutes, there can be no doubt that a person convicted of a capital felony faces a maximum possible penalty of death. [footnote omitted] Both sections 775.082 and 921.141 clearly refer to а "capital felony." Black's Law Dictionary defines "capital" as "punishable by execution; involving the death penalty." Black's Law Dictionary 200 (7th ed. 1999). Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary defines . . . "capital" as "punishable by death involving execution." Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary 169 (10th ed.1998). Therefore, a "capital felony" is by definition a felony that may be punishable by death. The maximum possible penalty described in the capital sentencing scheme is clearly death.

Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532, 538 (Fla. 2001). Whatever can be said about the viability of Mills, there is no doubt that that part of the decision remains controlling law in Florida.

Finally, to the extent that Pham has attempted to raise other challenges to Florida's sentencing scheme, those claims (which include, for example, a claim that at least two

aggravating circumstances must be found) are not preserved for review because they were not raised in the trial court. *Farina* v. *State*, 937 So. 2d 612, 628-629 (Fla. 2006); *Archer v. State*, 934 So. 2d 1187, 1206 (Fla. 2006); *Davis v. State*, 928 So. 2d 1089, 1134 (Fla. 2005); *Wright v. State/Crosby*, 857 So. 2d 861, 876 (Fla. 2003); *Windom v. State*, 656 So. 2d 432, 438 (Fla. 1995); *Tillman v. State*, 471 So. 2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985); *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

## V. THE HEINOUSNESS AGGRAVATOR

On pages 75-82 of his brief, Pham argues that the sentencing court erred in finding the applicability of the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance.<sup>18</sup> Whether an aggravating circumstance exists is a factual finding reviewed under the competent substantial evidence test. When reviewing aggravating factors on appeal, this Court in *Alston v. State*, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998), reiterated the standard of review, noting that it "is not this Court's function to reweigh the evidence to determine whether the State proved each aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt -- that is the trial court's job. Rather, our task on appeal is to review the record to determine whether the trial court applied the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Pham's exact language refers to the murder having been "committed in a heinous, atrocious and cruel manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification." The heinousness aggravator has no "justification" component.

right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding," *quoting Willacy v. State*, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla. 1997), *cert. denied*, 522 U.S. 970 (1997).

In finding that the murder of Phi Pham was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, the trial court said:

# The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. F.S. 921.141 (5)(h)

Per Dr. Bulic, the medical examiner, the victim Phi Pham was stabbed at least six times. Phi's daughter Lana witnesses the first stab wound to her throat. Given the nature of her wounds, the victim would have suffered a great deal of pain. One of the wounds was inflicted with such force that it pierced her entire body and exited her back. Dr. Bulic also described a shallow incision to the palm of her right hand consistent with a defensive wound. Such a wound was consistent with the victim having grabbed the blade of the knife.

Lana Pham testified that she left her apartment and ran to a neighbor's apartment. Upon returning home she went to her mother who was lying on the floor with blood gushing from her throat. She stated that her mother tried to speak, but could not, and instead gestured toward the door.

Dr. Bulic testified that Phi Pham was conscious during the attack and that it would have taken up to five minutes for death to ensue. The victim's defensive wound to the hand and testimony of Lana Pham support his opinion that the victim was conscious, and lived for some minutes after the attack.

In determining whether this aggravating factor has been proven, this Court considered the means and manner by which Tai Pham caused the victim's death as well as the immediate circumstances surrounding her death. The following evidence supports a finding that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel: 1. The Defendant inflicted at least six stab wounds to the chest, abdomen, arm, and base of victim's neck. Butler v. State, 842, So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2003).

2. Phi Pham was conscious during the attack, and struggled for her life as evidenced by the defensive wound to the palm of her right hand. *Cox v. State*, 819 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 2002).

3. The victim's death was not immediate, and she remained alive for several minutes after the attack.

4. The stab wounds inflicted resulted in a high degree of pain to the victim.

5. The initial stab wound occurred in front of the victim's daughter Lana, and the remaining wounds occurred in the hallway just outside her bedroom door. *Butler v. State*, 842 So. 2d 817 at 837 (Fla. 2003).

6. While the victim lay helpless and dying in the hallway, she could hear the vicious attack by the Defendant on her boyfriend, Christopher Higgins, just a few feet from the dining room and kitchen area.

The Court finds this aggravating circumstance has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt and is given great weight by the Court.

(V3, R561-62). Those findings are in accord with settled Florida law, and there is no colorable argument that this murder was anything but heinous, atrocious or cruel.

This Court has repeatedly upheld the heinousness aggravator in stabbing-murder cases. *Aguirre-Jarquin v. State*, 9 So. 3d 593, 609 (Fla. 2009); *Francis v. State*, 808 So. 2d 110, 135 (Fla. 2001); Cummings-El v. State, 684 So. 2d 729 (Fla. 1995); State v. Breedlove, 655 So. 2d 74 (Fla. 1995); Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982). Pham has offered no legally valid argument to support his claim that this aggravating factor is inapplicable.

To the extent that Pham says that the heinousness aggravator is inapplicable because he did not intend to torture his victim, there is no legal basis for that claim. This Court has explicitly rejected any notion that there is an "intent element" attached to the heinousness aggravator:

In Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 2003), we held that "[i]n determining whether the HAC factor was present, the focus should be upon the victim's perceptions of the circumstances as opposed to those of the perpetrator." *Id.* at 369 (emphasis supplied); see also Farina v. State, 801 So. 2d 44, 53 (Fla. 2001) ("[The HAC] aggravator pertains more to the victim's perception of the circumstances than to the perpetrator's."); Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1160 (Fla. 1998) ("The intention of the killer to inflict pain on the victim is not a necessary element of the aggravator.") Based on the above, Reynolds' contention lacks merit.

Reynolds v. State, 934 So. 2d 1128, 1155 (Fla. 2006). (emphasis added).<sup>19</sup> This claim is not a basis for relief.<sup>20</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> At least since *Guzman* in 1998, the "intent element" argument has been a legally invalid claim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Alternatively and secondarily, any error associated with finding the heinousness aggravator is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the remaining aggravating circumstances and the minimal mitigation present in this case.

## VI. THE COLDNESS AGGRAVATOR

On pages 83-88 of his brief, Pham says that the sentencing court should not have found that his murder of Phi Pham was calculated and premeditated. Whether an cold, aggravating circumstance exists is a factual finding reviewed under the competent substantial evidence test. When reviewing aggravating factors on appeal, this Court in Alston v. State, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998), reiterated the standard of review, noting that it "is not this Court's function to reweigh the evidence to determine whether the State proved each aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt -- that is the trial court's job. Rather, our task on appeal is to review the record to determine whether the trial court applied the right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding," quoting Willacy v. State, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 970 (1997).

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